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Executive summary
The Dutch society of today is a very mixed one. Different cultures from all over the world come together in one small country. One of the reasons that the Dutch society contains so many different cultures is because of its colonial history. The Surinamese population is one of the many ethnical minorities in the Netherlands. In 2010 it is estimated that there will be 345,418 Surinamese people in the Netherlands (17 December 2008, CBS). This is a very high number considering the fact that the number of people living in Suriname is not higher than 500,000. 

Because of the fact that Suriname was a Dutch colony for more than 300 years, the two countries have a very special relation. This relation remained to be exceptional after Suriname regained its independence in November 1975. Suriname was promised a large sum of money which could be considered as a dowry, to help Suriname with its development. The Surinamese government was very satisfied with the fact that Suriname was now an independent republic, but the population was afraid for the future of Suriname because of the many different ethnical groups. 

The Surinamese government at the time appeared to be very corrupt and the population suffered a lot. There was a lot of poverty in the country and many people could not find a job. The development aid that was promised mainly disappeared in to the hands of corrupt politicians and large companies or was invested in projects that did not achieve anything.. 

The fact that the government was corrupt and the country was suffering because of it, lead to great dissatisfaction among the Surinamese Armed Forces (SAF). They wanted to change the regime of the country and therefore on 25 February 1980 a military coup took place in Paramaribo. The whole world was shocked to see what happened in the country. However, the international community hoped that the new found leaders would change the state the country was in.

That is also why the leaders did not talk about a military coup but called the coup a revolution. They said they wanted Suriname to be an honest democracy with honest elections. Although the initial ideas about the coup were good, these ideologies soon changed. In 1982, 15 opponents of the regime were killed which shocked the international community. The Netherlands took serious measures to punish the former colony. The human rights situation at the time was very bad as was shown in the Report on the human right situation in Suriname by the Inter-American Commission on Human Rights (IACHR).
It can be said that the relation between Suriname and other countries in its region changed after the military coup. Suriname became isolated in its region but did improve its connections with countries like Cuba and Grenada. This lead to great dissatisfaction from the United States (US) government.

However, the December murders, or the violation of human rights in general, had more effect. Suriname became even more isolated from other countries. Even today the relation between Suriname and other countries in South-America is almost non existent. The relation between Suriname and the Netherlands is still the most important one for Suriname. But the current government is trying to improve the relation with other countries because this could really stimulate the economy.
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Preface
During the fourth year of our study we have to do an internship so we can bring three years of studying into practice. Because I have a Surinamese background, I wanted to do my internship in Suriname because that way I could get to know the country and my family even better.

While I was there I noticed that I did not know a lot about recent Surinamese history. I know more about the period that Suriname was a Dutch colony and the history of slavery the country has, but I did not know much about the coup d’etat that was staged in 1980. 
Because I noticed that the period during the military regime is a rather sensitive subject among the Surinamese population, I wanted to know more about it. Especially the people that left Suriname during this period are considered to be ‘traitors’ because they were not in Suriname during the bad years and now they come back to Suriname and take away jobs from people who did not have the opportunity to leave. 

Because of this, I wanted to know more about this subject. I talked a lot about this issue with my family members during my stay in Suriname and they gave me an idea of how things were during this period. 

Therefore I want to thank my family for helping me with my dissertation. I had a great time in Suriname and I am glad that I chose the military coup as my subject for this dissertation. Now I know more about this period and I can understand the feelings that live among the population. I especially want to thank my grandmother, who is not here now to see the end result of my dissertation, but did answer all my questions and was so patient with me. 
Introduction

Military coups are a common activity in South-American countries. However, the military coup that took place in 1980 in Suriname, came as a surprise to many foreign countries and of course the Surinamese population. It is still a much discussed issue and many aspects of the coup have been investigated. Especially the killing of 15 opponents of the regime is a very controversial issue which caused unrest in the region of Suriname and changed the relation between Suriname and the Netherlands. Because I am aware of the fact that the relation between Suriname and other foreign countries changed after the military coup, I am very much interested in how these relations changed exactly. Therefore the central question of my dissertation is:

What effect has the military coup of 1980 in Suriname had on international relations between Suriname and other countries?
My main focus will be on the relation between Suriname and the Netherlands because I consider this to be the most interesting one because of the special history between the two countries. However, I will also look at countries in the region of Suriname. 
To answer my central question I will start by answering the following sub-questions:

In the first chapter I will discuss what kind of relation the Netherlands and Suriname had in the past. I will research how Suriname became and independent republic and the relation between Suriname and the Netherlands after Surinam regained its  independence. 
In the following chapter I will discuss the military coup. I will research how the military coup was staged and what was the main reason that drove the non-commissioned officers. 
To answer my main question I need to find out what kind changes the military coup caused for the Surinamese population. Especially the human rights situation is very important and this will be discussed in chapter 3.
Furthermore, I will find out more about the reaction of other foreign countries. Because nobody expected a military coup in a country like Suriname, it is interesting to see how other countries reacted to the staging of the coup. 
Finally, I will discuss the reaction of the Dutch government. The Netherlands and Suriname have a long history together and therefore I consider it to be important to discuss the Dutch reaction separately from other foreign countries. 
During my research I mainly used books that are written about this subject. There are many books that discuss this subject and are written from different points of views. Some books that I used are written by Surinamese politicians that were active during the staging of the military coup. Because of these books it really became clear how the whole process of the staging of the coup took place. Other books were written by Dutch writers. These books give a more general outline of everything that took place and, I consider these books to have a very objective view to the military coup. Of course I have also used web sites and experiences of various family members that were in Suriname during the military coup.
1. Decolonization of Suriname
Before I can start with discussing the military coup and how it took place, I consider it to be important to know more about the colonization and decolonization of Suriname. This is important because some consider this to be one of the reasons why the military coup took place (Kagenaar, D., “Different times”, 2009). 
To see if the relation between the Netherlands and Suriname has changed because of the military coup, it is important to see what kind of relation the two countries had after Suriname became independent. That is why in this chapter I will answer the following sub-question:

How was the relation between Suriname and the Netherlands after Suriname regained its
 independence?
1.1 Becoming a Dutch colony

Around 1600 the Spanish harbours were closed for Dutch business and because of that the Northern Dutch decided to expand their horizon. In 1613 the Dutch tried to turn Suriname into a Dutch colony, but this attempt failed. However in 1667, Holland was more successful and as of that year Suriname became a Dutch colony. Suriname was not a colony of the Netherlands, but a colony of one of the seven regions of the Republic of the United Netherlands, Zeeland. However, it soon came to be clear that Zeeland did not have the financial means to colonize Suriname completely.

When the situation in the Dutch colony was stable, Suriname turned out to be the most important overseas holding of the Netherlands, providing considerable wealth to the booming mercantile houses of Holland and Zeeland (Waltmans, H., 2002, p. 23). The colony was really important for the development of Western Europe and it stimulated the ship-building industry in Europe. Many of the export products of Suriname, were soled in the market of Amsterdam. The native inhabitants of Suriname (Indians) were not fit for the heavy labour that they needed to do on the plantations,  and soon there were too little people to work on the plantations. That is why the Dutch started to import African slaves in the colony.
In 1806 the importation of slaves in Suriname was prohibited and because of that again there were too little people to work on the plantations. The slaves that did get imported were mostly men and therefore the slaves did not have enough children. Also a great part of the slaves ran away into the woods where they formed there own community, the maroons. These maroons attacked the plantations and robbed the colonists. This was a great problem for the colonists, because they were not able to stop the maroons who were good at surviving in the Surinamese interior (Verrijp, A., 2008, “Suriname: history”, para. 3). 
Slavery was abolished in Suriname on 1 July 1863 and in 1873 all slaves were officially free. This day is still a day of great celebrations of Suriname, it is called ‘Keti Koti’, which means ‘break the chains’. 
1.2 Suriname regains its independence

Suriname would remain to be a Dutch colony for many more years to come. The situation changed after the 2nd World War when Suriname became an autonomous state in 1954, just like the Dutch Antilles. According to the Dutch government Suriname still had the image of a regular colony and they did not find that suitable during the seventies. Therefore negotiations for complete independence began during the early seventies (Boerenboom, H. & Oranje, J, 1992, p. 13). 
The date that Suriname would become an independent country was established by the Surinamese Prime Minister Henck Arron and this date was approved by the Dutch Prime Minister Den Uyl. Although the date of independence was established by Suriname, this did not mean that the Surinamese population was happy with becoming independent (Boerenboom, H. & Oranje, J., 1992, p. 13). Because of the fact that a lot of Surinamese people had doubts about the future of the country after it would become independent, one third of the population emigrated to the Netherlands by the end of 1975 (n.d., “1975: Suriname independent”, para. 1). According to John Jansen van Galen, guest researcher of the Institute for Migration and Ethnical Studies, different groups within the population did not care for an independent country. It was mainly the intellectual Afro-Surinamese (creoles) population who studied in the Netherlands who were in favour of the decolonization of Suriname. Other ethnical groups were not as enthusiastic. They saw the state that Guyana was in after it regained its independence and were afraid that the different ethnical groups in the population would become opposites (n.d., “The independence of Suriname, a Dutch initiative”, para. 1 till 3). Also many different groups feared that it was too early for Suriname to become an independent republic and that it was not at all prepared for that. However, the Dutch population was a big supporter of Suriname becoming independent. Opinion polls show that eight out of ten people at the time were supporting the issue (Dew, E., 1978). 
The first president of Suriname, Ferrier, announced that when Suriname would be independent it would not allow other countries to benefit from their riches any more (2001, “Suriname: youngest republic of Latin America, para. 6). The benefits of raw materials that can be found a lot in Suriname would only be used for economical growth of Suriname. 
Although Suriname had now become an independent country, this did not mean that it would break its relation with the Netherlands completely. Suriname was now independent but the possibility of immigration of Surinamese people to the Netherlands was also guaranteed and the Surinamese government was promised a large sum of money, 3.5 billion guilders, for the development of the country. But there were a number of conditions on how Suriname could spend this money, which caused a lot of Dutch political interference. If the Surinamese government wanted to spent the money a special bilateral commission had to determine if this was allowed (Emmer, P., 2005, p. 608). This was the Commission for Development Aid Netherlands – Suriname. Also the 517 million guilders of debt Suriname had, was remitted.
The Surinamese government wanted to establish armed forces in Suriname. The Dutch government however did not agree with Suriname on this point because they feared that the establishment of armed forces in a South American country would do more harm than good (Boerenboom H & Oranje, J, 1992, p. 14).  But even on this point the Dutch government gave in and said that the SAF would be assisted by the Dutch Military Mission (Boerenboom H & Oranje, J, 1992, p. 14).  

Prime Minister Den Uyl was very satisfied about the whole process of independence in Suriname.  When Indonesia, another Dutch colony, regained its independence it came with a lot of violence because of the fact that the population had to wait a very long time before it became independent. Therefore the Dutch government was very satisfied about how everything proceeded in Suriname. They saw the decolonization of Suriname as a model for the decolonization of other countries. However, it soon came to be clear that the decolonization also had a lot of negative effects in the country. Some even say that the decolonization of Suriname became the main cause of what soon would take place. Although the Dutch government was really satisfied with the process of the decolonization, the Surinamese population would eventually suffer the most. The country was now an independent republic but it would still depend on the Netherlands economically.
1.3 The relation with the Netherlands
Of course the relation between the Netherlands and Suriname, will always be a special one because of the long history the two countries have. The relation between the two countries did change of course when Suriname became independent.

Because of the fact that a large amount of the development aid was cut back, the relation between the countries was very sensitive. But also a number of big (Dutch) companies enriched themselves through the development aid (Waltmans, H., 2002 , p. 173). Many Dutch advisors, consultants and experts were sent to Suriname to help spending the development aid in a good way. Different plans were formed but they all turned out to nothing. In 1982 the Dutch Government audit office claimed that because of an inconsistent policy, a lack of legislation and insufficient development projects the development aid did not achieve much. This really caused a lot of problems for the development relation between Suriname and the Netherlands. The fact that a large sum of  the money returned to the Netherlands was also an issue in one of the meetings of the United Nations (UN) André Haakmat said in his speech the following about this issue: ‘it is common knowledge that a large part of the aid  returned to Holland in one form or another. In addition his speech stated that by not indexing the aid, inflation eroded the amount available to Suriname for a period of fifteen years at such a rate that it has proven disastrous’ (Haakmat, A., 1987, p. 113).

Still about 3000 Surinamese people per month decided to go to the Netherlands and that is why in 1979 the Dutch government established a visa requirement (Boerenboom H & Oranje, J, 1992, p. 15). This caused great dissatisfaction among the Surinamese population. 
Also a great dissatisfaction arose among the soldiers of SAF. They did not have enough equipment, money or qualified staff (Boerenboom H & Oranje, J, 1992, p. 15). 
The attention of the Dutch government for the former colony really decreased. Before Suriname became independent the policy concerning Suriname was established by different cooperating departments in the government, however now issues concerning Suriname would be handled by the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Ministry of Current Affairs and of course by the Dutch Embassy in Paramaribo (Boerenboom H & Oranje, J, 1992, p. 15). Slowly the Dutch government was starting to realize that things are getting out of hand in Suriname. Even though the attention for Suriname decrease during the first years after Suriname became independent, because of the spending of the development aid the Dutch government would still have to interfere in Surinamese affairs. Because of this the Dutch government was accused of neo-colonialism (2003, “Repeat necessary for the Netherlands and Suriname”, para. 7).

1.4 Conclusion

It can be concluded that the relation between Suriname and the Netherlands changed after Suriname regained its independence. Although the Surinamese government was really satisfied that Suriname would no longer be a Dutch colony, the Surinamese population was not as glad about the fact that Suriname was now and independent republic. I think that independence did come too soon for the country and that Suriname was not at all prepared to be an independent state. The economy of Suriname was not a stable one, the different groups within the population did not form one nation and even more important; the Surinamese population did not want to become independent (Boerenboom, H. & Oranje, J., 1992, p. 13).
The fact that Suriname became independent was one of the major goals of the Dutch Labour Party at the time. Also the Surinamese Prime Minister, Henck Arron, wanted to go down in history as the leader of the independence process (Boerenboom, H., & Oranje, J., 1992, p. 13). 
Also history shows that Suriname was not ready for its independence. The government was very corrupt and therefore the Surinamese population lost its trust in the government. The Dutch government found it hard to accept that Suriname, after it became an independent republic, did not maintain the former colonial values but adjusted to its region (Emmer, P., 2005, p. 608).
2. The staging of the military coup in Suriname
To research whether the military coup in Suriname had an effect on the international relations between Suriname and other countries it is important to outline how the military coup was staged. Therefore in this chapter the following sub-question will be answered:

How was the military coup in Suriname staged?
Also the reaction of the Surinamese population will be discussed in this chapter.
2.1 The beginning of the military coup

25 November 1975 was a day of great celebrations. However it soon came to be clear that Suriname was not ready to be independent. 

As mentioned before, Suriname was promised a large sum of money to help the country with its development. And although the country was a democracy, a big part of the money disappeared into the hands of corrupt politicians or was invested in unrealistic and prestigious projects (2008, “Suriname independent”, para. 4). Many politicians appeared to be corrupt and the country did not receive any structural help from the Netherlands. Not only did a lot of money disappear, it also became clear that in Surinamese politics it was more important who you knew, in stead of your capacities. Friends and family members of politicians were given many preferences which lead to great discontent among the population. The politicians were not reaching for the well-being of the entire country, but were trying to reach personal goals. During these years Suriname really fitted in with other countries in its region. With the decolonization of other South-American countries, corruption and violence was often a consequence (Jones, 2007, “Decolonization came too soon for Suriname”, para. 1 till 9).  During these days many people lost their faith in the future of the young republic. 

The military coup began during the night of Monday 25 February 1980 with a shooting on the Police Headquarters, which burned down completely. The military coup was presided by Desi Bouterse and Roy Horb who were supported by 14 non-commissioned officer (NCOs); also known as ‘The Group of Sixteen’. The main reason that drove this group was the discontent that lived among the Surinamese population caused by the corrupt government and the feeling that the population did not benefit from the development aid granted by the Netherlands. There was also a great discontent among NCOs because there was a great difference in the payments among the NCOs. For example NCOs that were trained in the Netherlands got a higher salary than the ones that were trained in Suriname (CEDLA, 2008, “Re-democratization in Guyana and Suriname: critical comparison”, p. 79). There were two other reasons that caused dissatisfactions among the Surinamese army. Firstly, the NCOs wanted a more active role for the military in the national development. Secondly, the NCOs were against the ethnic nature of politics in Suriname (CEDLA, 2008, “Re-democratization in Guyana and Suriname: critical comparison”, p. 79).
Some even say that the military coup was justified at the time because of the fact that the government, lead by Prime Minister Henck Arron, was so corrupt.  The military coup was seen as a revolution by a part of the Surinamese population and of course by the Group of Sixteen. It was a revolution with the possibility of a lot of social and economic reforms (Boerenboom, H. & Oranje, J., 1992, p. 27). 

The Police Headquarters completely burned down and five people were killed during that night. And soon after the military coup was staged, a lot of things changed for the population. This will be discussed further in chapter three. 

The Civil Government disappeared and a number of soldiers formed the ‘National Military Council’ (NMC), also presided by Desi Bouterse. He announced in a declaration that he had taken over the power from the government and that he would end all corruption and would make important social and economic changes (Mc Leod, C., 2005, p. 97). The NMC declared that the democratic principles of Suriname would remain. Former vice Prime Minister Olton van Genderen read out a declaration on behalf of the Ministry of Justice and Police and the former government on television. During his declaration two soldiers stood next to him with guns in their hands. He announced that the NMC now had the civil and military power. He advised the population to subject themselves to the new authority so public security could remain (Mc Leod, C., 2005, p. 98).

On 25 March of 1980 the military coup was legalized when a new Civil Government, formed by Eddy Brumma, presented itself and doctor Henk Chin A Sen was pronounced Prime Minister of Suriname (Boerenboom, H. & Oranje, J., 1992, p. 19). Because he did not know much about politics he asked his friend André Haakmat, who was living in the Netherlands at the time, to come back to Suriname and be his political advisor. This new formed government was also called the ‘government of reconcilement’. A new government was formed, but President Ferrier still remained president.
The ideas behind de the revolution were presented in the Manifest of the Revolution which was presented on 1 May of 1981. This manifest stated that with the revolution the development of Suriname would be stimulated by small-scaled production in Suriname with the use of own technology and these productions would be paid with investments from Suriname and not from other foreign countries. The new found leaders also wanted to abolish neo-colonialism, which was caused by Dutch interference, and wanted to restore the authenticity of the Surinamese population. Furthermore, a new honest democracy would be established. At the end of the Manifest the revolutionaries state the following: “Victory will be ours... People of Suriname, unite yourselves!” (Manifest of the Revolution, 1 May 1981). 
Although the population demanded honest elections, these were cancelled which lead to a great dissatisfaction among the people (Van Coblijn, “The military coup of 25 February 1980”, para 1 till 4).  

2.2 The reaction of the people 
After the military coup took place the reaction among the people was very much divided. This was shown in a broadcast of the Dutch radio station ‘Wereldomroep’ which aired on 29 February 1980. Different people were interviewed and gave their reaction to everything that happened in Suriname. 

There were a number of people who were very glad with the military coup. These people said that there was no other option. They saw the coup as a reaction to all the wrong doings of the former government and the colonial regime that was still taking place even though Suriname was independent. Some even say that the military coup should have taken place much earlier. 

However, not everyone was happy about the coup. Many people were scarred about what was going to happen in Suriname. There were doubts whether the coup was established for the interest of the whole country or for the benefit of the NCOs themselves. Many people feared because there was no government and no judicial power. Also a lot of people realized that this deed was hard to be justified because of the violence and that it was possible that it would not lead to a democracy but to a dictatorship. This also happened in other South-American countries, so there was not much perspective for the military coup in Suriname. 

Furthermore, there were people who considered the coup to be an act of despair. The former political leaders did not offer enough perspective for the upcoming elections and therefore it was not likely that many people would vote (Emanuels, L. & Zubrati, N., 29 February 1980, Wereldomroep).
These were some reactions of people very shortly after the coup had taken place. During that time the reactions were still rather positive because there were not many changes in the country for the population. There was still enough food and water in Suriname and everybody could go on with their own lives. However, this situation would not remain for a very long time.
2.3 Conclusion

The military coup was a direct effect of the dissatisfaction that lived among the population. The fact that the government was corrupt and not many people benefited from the development aid granted by the Netherlands also caused discontent among the people. The Group of Sixteen considered a military coup or a revolution as they called it, to be the only way to make some major changes in Suriname. 
During the first moments after the staging of the military coup it was really unclear which course the NMC would take and therefore the opinion of the population was rather reserved. Although Bouterse and his men wanted to let the people believe that this was a revolution and not a dictatorship, as time progressed it would be clear that this would change. Bouterse also said that all values of a democracy would remain. 
3. Changes for the population of Suriname
Although nothing really changed during the first few days of the military coup, on the long run the Surinamese society would not remain the same. The changes that were established as time progressed by the National Military Council caused a lot of reactions from the people and of course of the Dutch government. In this chapter the following sub-question will be answered:
What kind of changes did the military coup cause for the Surinamese population?
To answer this question I will look at changes that were shown in the daily lives of the people and other shocking events that were caused by the coup.

3.1 Changes in the daily lives of the Surinamese
The first few days after the military coup the Surinamese population were very tensed. No one knew what would happen so everyone checked the news regularly. On 25 February many soldiers were out on the streets and schools were closed during the first few days, so the street image was very different than it normally was (Mc Cleod, C., 2005, p. 143). 
One of the first major changes for the population was the curfew that was set by the NMC. Nobody could go outside after 19.00 hours (Mc. Cleod, C., 2005, p. 145). This curfew was set so order could remain. During the first night after the curfew was set, if people were out after 19.00 hours they would get arrested and had to go to the barracks. They had to stay there all night and explain why they broke the curfew. The NMC said that this was only a warning and that later on stronger measures would be taken. Because many citizens expressed their dissatisfaction the curfew was raised to 22.00 hours after one month (Mc Cleod, C., 2005, p. 145). 
There was also a big change in local media. The NMC took over the Surinamese News Agency. All news that would air on radio stations had to be approved by the NMC. Without authorization of the NMC, especially news about the NMC or the government could not be published. Also several papers were abolished. Only the Surinamese newspaper ‘De Ware Tijd’ could still be printed. However, the price of this newspaper was ten times as high, as it normally was (Mc Cleod, C., 2005, p. 151). Even though freedom of opinion and press was guaranteed through article 8 of general Decree 11-A, it became clear that the freedom of expression of opinion was rather limited in Suriname (CIDH, 1983, “Report on the human rights situation in Suriname”, chapter 3, section 4). This situation created a lot of fear among the Surinamese population.
Also the telephone service was taken over by the NMC. It was impossible to call or receive calls from foreign countries. Also travelling was impossible. The two airports, Zanderij and Zorg en Hoop, were under military command. After one week the first ‘Surinam Airways flight’ landed in the Netherlands. Many people fled by going to Albina and from there to French-Guyana. 
The NCOs took very strong measures to fight crime. Thieves were heavily punished with which the people were very satisfied (Mc. Cleod, C., 2005, p. 21). 
Not only the media was censured, all people really had to watch what they said and more important to whom they said it. If you expressed your negative opinion about the military coup, the possibility existed that you would be arrested. 
Another major change in daily life was the fact that as time proceeded there was a major shortage of primary necessities like sugar, milk and bread. Stores were practically empty and many of them closed during the coup. If stores did manage to keep there stores open it was a daily struggle to keep the stores filled. If they did succeed to fill there stores with products, there were so many possible buyers that they had to raise their prices. Everyone could only buy one piece of each product. It was important that everybody stood in line to prevent chaos and people had to wait for hours before they got their products (Mc. Cleod, C., 2005, p. 25).
The value of the Surinamese guilder also dropped very fast. Because of this an underground money exchange system invented itself. 

3.2 Political changes
There were not only changes for the population but there were a lot of political changes as well. As was discussed in the second chapter a new government was formed in March 1980. However, a major change took place in August of that year. In a television statement on 13 August Prime Minister Chin A Sen declared that there were a number of differences of opinions between the current government and President Ferrier. The most important aspect that came to light in his declaration was that the governing power was given to Bouterse and Horb. A new government would be formed and Chin A Sen would be the president of the Republic of Suriname (Mc Leod, C., 2005, p. 138). 
Desi Bouterse declared that Suriname was in a state of emergency and that the constitution in its current form would be banned. If a country is in a state of emergency it means that a military force can arrest civilians without a judicial warrant (CIDH, 1985, “2nd Report on the human right situation in Suriname, chapter 3, section 3). It is also allowed that a person may be incarcerated and may or may not see an attorney, family members or a judge during ten days. 
Because of the fact that the constitution was banned, the organization of the State of Suriname lacked any constitutional basis and was based through certain decrees. These decrees among other things stated that the President only performs formal functions and is nominated by Military forces and the government is exercised by the Political Centre and Military Authorities. Through the different decrees the Military Authorities gain many powers (CIDH, 1983, “Report on the human rights situation in Suriname”, chapter 1, section 4).
This major political change caused a lot of turbulence among the people. The new Vice Prime Minister of Suriname would be André Haakmat. The new authority announced that the first elections would take place in October 1982; this caused a great discontent among the population.  However, when October 1982 came, it became clear that the elections would not take place. 
On 4 November 1975 Suriname was admitted to the United Nations (UN) and one 8 June 1977, Suriname became a member of the Organization of American States (OAS). This meant that the dispositions on human rights should have been implemented in Suriname. The system relating to the  human rights that was established through General Decree A-11, did not recognize all the rights that were established in the Covenant and the American Declaration, and the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (CIDH, 1983, “Report on the human rights situation in Suriname”, chapter 1, section 6). In the constitution of 1975 these rights were included. However, the NMC did say after the staging of the coup “that they would respect the well being of all citizens; that it guaranteed everyone’s personal safety and no more victims were necessary; that it would respect all treaties to which Suriname was a party and that subscribed to the principles and objectives of the UN” (CIDH, 1983, “Report on the human rights situation in Suriname, chapter 1, section 4). 
Human rights situation 
The human rights situation did not remain the same when the coup was staged. Before the coup  human rights in Suriname were guaranteed and this changed drastically.
3.3 December murders

The proof that the military coup did not lead to a democracy but was in fact a dictatorship in every form came on 8 December 1982. On this day 15 opponents of the military regime were killed by soldiers in Fort Zeelandia, the so-called ‘December murders’. Among the opponents were lawyers, professors and journalists. In the evening of 7 December 1982 Desi Bouterse and his allies decided to take the opponents of the revolution out of their homes and detain them in Fort Zeelandia. During these arrests no arrest warrants were presented. If they would not go with the soldiers voluntarily, they were forced with violence. This happened when the soldiers were sent to arrest André Kamperveen, a Surinamese politician. He told them that he would come to see Bouterse the next day, however the soldiers did not approve of this. They warned him that if he would not go voluntarily they would come and get him, so Kamperveen decided to co-operate. He went to change his clothes and changed his mind and told the soldiers that he would not come. The soldiers started to shoot at his home and threw two grenades at his house and forced him to come with them (Sariman, J., 1983, p. 38, 39).  
The 15 opponents were heavily tortured by the soldiers and were all accused of not co-operating in the revolutionary process. During the night of 8 December 1982 all 15 opponents were killed by the military personnel. Until this day still nobody has been tried for these murders. Bouterse will only take the political responsibility for the murders (Bouterse, interview by Nina Jurna, 2005). However according to Jan Sariman, old Surinamese politician, Bouterse killed Cyrill Daal and Soerindre Rambocus himself (Sariman, J., 1983, p. 49). His conclusion is based on different conversations he had with Roy Horb, who used to be the right hand of Bouterse. This all changed during 1982 when it became clear that there would not be any elections. Horb disagreed with the state Suriname was now in and where it was going and because of that he and Bouterse grew further apart. He also became a victim of the regime. Of course these murders can not be justified as was stated in the Report on the situation of human rights in Suriname, written by the IACHR (Para, 1998, p.42). This report also stated that high Government officials participated directly or indirectly, in the killings (CIDH, 1985, “2nd Report on the human rights situation in Suriname”, chapter 1, section 4). The IACHR investigated the December murders, however in the report the commission also stated that no investigation by any national body or Government has been done.
On 30 January 1983 Horb was arrested because Bouterse and his men claimed that he was planning a counter-coup. Bouterse declared to the population that Horb was arrested because he tried to liquidate Bouterse but did not succeed. However, both statements were never proven by Bouterse. He was incarcerated that day and five days later he hung himself in his cell. The IACHR investigated the death of Horb but did not find any evidence to determine or to undermine the statement that Horb killed himself (CIDH, 1983, “Report on the human right situation in Suriname”, chapter 2, section 11).
After the December murders the former government resigned. According to Sariman, the murders were committed to shock society. Errol Alibux, a Surinamese politician who also was involved with the December murders, said that the murders were necessary to help change the Surinamese community and to help protect the revolution (p. 43). To the public the NMC said that the prisoners tried to escape and therefore left the military personnel with no choice but to shoot them. The opponents were accused of planning a counter-revolution and the NMC at all time would defend their revolution (CIDH, 1983, “Report on the human rights situation in Suriname”, chapter 2, section 9). However, the NMC did not provide the IACHR with any evidence to prove that the prisoners were planning a counter-revolution.
Not only did Bouterse kill the intellectuals that were against his revolution, he also burned down the meeting places of these so-called contra revolutionaries. He burned down two radio stations, a printing office and a union office. During these fires he forbade the fire department to extinguish the fires (Para, 1998, p. 41). The authorities did promise the Inter-American Commission and the UN that recurrence of the situation would be prevented in the future. After the December murders there have been fewer violations of the right to life, but people were still arrested without warrants and were being kept in prison without a fair trial, without food, sleep or medical attention (CIDH, 1985, “Report on the human right situation in Suriname”, chapter 4, section 3).
3.4 Violation of human rights

With the December murders, it can be said that the General-Decree of that time was violated. In article 3 of the Decree it states the following: ‘Everyone has a right to physical, psychic and moral integrity’ This article also states that no one shall be subjected to torture or degrading or inhumane treatment or punishment (CIDH, 1985, “2nd Report on the human right situation in Surinam”, chapter 2, section B). 

The fact that at the time of the military coup human rights were violated was not only shown through the December murders, but also through other violations. 
It is important for a country to have a normally functioning civilian court system, but this not seemed to be the case in Suriname during the coup. Problems arose when civilians were accused of crimes against state security. Mr. Oosterling, President of the Supreme Court at the time, said that judges were often not officially informed about the imprisonment of these persons (CIDH, 1985, “2nd Report on the human right situation in Suriname”, chapter 3, section 3). It often occurred that mr. Oosterling had to call the Minister of Justice to confirm a rumour that was going around about the imprisonment of a person. The Minister of Justice had to investigate this and would get back to mr. Oosterling. Often by that time the person in question was already released and had never seen a judge or an attorney during his imprisonment. The Commander of the Military Police, Liew Yen Tair, stated that a registry of civilian military prisoners in custody would be kept. However, this registry was not open to public inspection and it has not been proven that such a registry really existed (CIDH, 1985, “2nd Report on the human right situation in Suriname”, chapter 3, section 2).
Through international law the freedom of movement and residence is guaranteed, however it seemed that this was not the case in practice. People were often denied passports if they wanted to leave the country and people who wanted to go back to Suriname for business or to visit family members were denied access to the country (CIDH, 1985, “2nd Report on the human right situation in Suriname”, chapter 4, section 2). 
3.5 Conclusion

Although there were not many changes during the first days after the staging of the coup, it soon became clear that life in Suriname would not remain the same. Also the former government was replaced by a new one. This new government was not chosen through honest elections. The coup leaders promised that elections would take place that year, but they never did.

Although some human rights were still guaranteed through general Decree A-11, in practice not all human rights were a certainty for everyone. Because of the violation of human rights Suriname became rather isolated in its region. It also caused a lot of negative reactions from the Netherlands. 


The main human rights that were violated in Suriname, according to the OAS, were the following:

· The Right to Life

· The Right to Justice and Due Process

· The Right to Free Thought and Expression

· Freedom of Association and Political Rights

4. Reaction of foreign countries in the region of Suriname
Of course the military coup caused turbulence in countries situated around Suriname. As said before, military coups were rather common in South-America. In this chapter I will discuss the different reactions of countries in the region of Suriname. I will answer the following sub-question: 

What was the reaction of countries in Suriname’s region to the military coup?

The reaction of the Dutch government will be discussed in chapter 5. In this chapter the main focus will be on the United States, Grenada, Cuba and Brazil. After Suriname became independent, the international relations of Suriname with foreign countries, other then the Netherlands almost did not existed. Therefore I will discuss the reaction of these countries, because they had a very outspoken reaction and can be considered to be the most important ones.
4.1 Reaction of the United States

In October 1980 the 35th UN meeting, which Suriname was attending since it regained its independence, took place in New York. 

When Haakmat arrived in New York, the Surinamese Ambassador in America informed him that the American Minister of Foreign Affairs Edmund Muskie wanted to have a meeting with Haakmat the next day. During the meeting Muskie asked when the elections would take place in Suriname. But he was more interested in the current relation between Suriname and Cuba. Haakmat told Muskie that the Surinamese government was planning to acknowledge Cuba diplomatically and wanted to strengthen the relation between the two countries. Muskie said that although Suriname was a free country and should make its own decisions, it should be aware of the fact that strengthening the relation with Cuba would be a decision with very negative consequences for Suriname. He said that Cuba wanted to export its revolutionary ideas and that it had betrayed America by establishing communism and that the country was nothing more than a concentration camp where human rights were violated on a daily basis. After Muskie warned Haakmat about Cuba he also said that the US would have no intention to interfere in the situation in Suriname if the relation between Suriname and the Netherlands would remain to be a good one (Haakmat, A., 1987, p. 115). 
It were mainly the December murders that caused the suspension of any further aid from the US on 17 December 1982. However the United States was closely monitoring Suriname before the December murders because Suriname was a very interesting case for the US – Latin American politics. The US closely monitored all Latin American countries with a leftist regime because they formed a threat to US security. The US could not accept another communist platform in the South – American region. As will be discussed in paragraph three, Brazil was also concerned about the situation  in Suriname. The US called for Brazil’s assistance in Suriname (Dew, E., 1994, p. 93). 
Because of the concerns that existed among the US government, it has been said that the Central Intelligence Agency (CIA) had a plan to overthrow the Surinamese government. This plan was initiated by CIA chief William Casey (Boerenboom, H. & Oranje, J., 1992, p. 107). However, old Minister of Foreign Affairs George Schults claimed that the US Congress stopped these plans because the Dutch Government did not wanted to take part in a military interference in the country (2007, “Suriname looking for truth”, para. 6).  Also Barry Goldwater, chairman of the Senate Commission of Secret Service, considered an American invasion in a country with a population as great as Tuscon, Arizona the most ridiculous thing he had ever heard in his life (Boerenboom, H. & Oranje, J., 1992, p. 107, 108). This issue was discussed in the American TV show ‘Nightline’. During this broadcast Maurice Bishop said that he never told Bouterse that he should liquidate his opponents. The fact that the CIA might have a plan for an American invasion in Suriname was used by Bouterse to justify the December murders, according to Bouterse “it was them or us” (Boerenboom, H. & Oranje, J., 1992, p. 108). 
4.2 Reaction of Grenada and Cuba

As time progressed Bouterse had to set out a course for Suriname. In March 1982 Harvey Naarendorp, Secretary of the Commission of Development Cooperation Suriname - Netherlands, became Minister of Foreign Affairs in Suriname. Naarendorp was a great supporter of the Cuban revolution and was considered to be a socialist. He brought Bouterse in contact with the Prime Minister of Grenada, Maurice Bishop. Bouterse travelled to Grenada and Bishop was very glad to have him there. He was welcomed as ‘The Leader of the Surinamese Revolution’ (Boerenboom, H. & Oranje, J., 1992, p. 29). 

After his visit to Grenada Bouterse travelled to Cuba to meet his great example, Fidel Castro. When he arrived in Havana, Bouterse was honoured to see Fidel Castro himself at the airport. Bouterse was very impressed with the achievements of Fidel Castro; free education and modern hospitals accessible to everyone. He was convinced that socialism was the way to go for Suriname as well. However, Castro warned Bouterse about the differences between Cuba and Suriname. E.g. he said that the Cuban population is one nation that fought for one ideology and this is very different in the multi-ethnical population of Suriname. He said that Bouterse had to build his own revolution and that he should not loose contact with the Netherlands because that is where the money is. Although Castro had his doubts about the revolution of Bouterse, he gave him the benefit of the doubt and a Cuban Embassy was established in Suriname, which was led by Osvaldo Cardenas (Boeremboom, H. & Oranje, J., 1992, p. 30). Even though André Haakmat wanted to maintain a strong relation with the US, soldiers were sent to Cuba for a military and ideological training. Also committees were established to keep watch over the contra revolutionaries just like in Cuba. 
Cuba and Grenada also reacted very shocked to the December murders. The Cuban Ambassador Cardenas was convinced that Bouterse had ended his revolution by committing the murders. He called Desi Bouterse a ‘god dammed butcher’ (Boerenboom, H. & Oranje, J., 1992, p. 95). However, it was Bishop who said to Bouterse during a visit in Paramaribo: “a revolution is not a tea-party. If you do not liquidate your opponents, they will liquidate you!” (Haakmat, A., 1996, p. 124).  
4.3 Reaction of Brazil

In April 1983 a Brazilian delegation presided by General Venturini, on behalf of President Jão Baptista de Oliveira Figuereido, arrived in Suriname. General Venturini was very direct and told that Brazil was very unsatisfied about the course that Suriname had taken these recent years. Brazilian authorities were concerned about the revolutionary process in Suriname and its relation with Cuba. He said that if Suriname would continue to cooperate with Cuba, Brazil would take serious measures.
However, Venturini also made it clear that if Suriname needed any military support, Brazil would provide it. The Surinamese army could educate its staff members at the military schools in Rio de Janeiro and Brazil would provide technical equipment (Hoogbergen, W. & Kruijt, D., 2005, p. 92). This promise was made because Brazil feared that if Suriname needed help it would turn to countries like Cuba or Libya. The cooperation with Brazil really pleased the Dutch and US government (Waltmans, H., 2002, p. 201).
In May 1983 Errol Alibux and Ivan Graanoogst, chief of staff of the Surinamese army at the time, travelled to Brazil. An agreement was reached for the purchase of military equipment. The Dutch Prime Minister Lubbers asked Brazil not to deliver too many weapons in Suriname (Waltmans, H., 2002, p. 201). However, it was very important for Brazil that if these deals would go through, Suriname had to break its connection with Cuba. 
The Ministers of the PALU-Party were against the relation between Cuba and Suriname. Because of the fact that Brazil was the major power of South-America and the Caribbean and that the support of Brazil pleased the Americans the party was opposed to the relation with Cuba (Hoogbergen, W. & Kruijt, D., p. 94). 
4.4 Conclusion

The new found regime was not welcomed by every country in the Surinamese region. Countries like Cuba and Grenada were glad that their leftist regime could be extended and supported Bouterse. However, this was exactly what worried the US government. But it were mainly the December murders which shocked other foreign countries. Suriname became isolated in its region and development aid was suspended after the December murders. To prevent the establishment of a strong relation between Suriname and Cuba, Brazil offered to support Suriname.
5. Reaction of the Netherlands to the military coup
Because of the fact that Suriname and the Netherlands have a long history, the Dutch reaction was very important. The international community was closely watching how the Netherlands would deal with this issue. Therefore I will answer the following sub-question in this chapter:
How did the Dutch government react to the coup?

I will also discuss the role of the Netherlands in the staging of the coup because this subject is still talked about a lot. 


5.1 Questioned role of the Netherlands

The role of the Netherlands within the staging of the coup has been a very questionable one. Although the Netherlands claim not to have known what would take place on 25 February 1980, this was doubted on when the Dutch ambassador Vegelin van Claerbergen left Suriname on 24 February 1980 for business. As Dutch Major Koen Koenders said: “if it is true that the Dutch Ambassador knew what was going on, then formally the Dutch government knows as well” (Kagenaar, D. “Different times”, 2009). But the Dutch Minister Van der Klauw said on 27 February 1980 that neither the Dutch Ambassador nor the Dutch Military Mission (DMM) knew about the coup. However, if a government knows about the fact that a group wants to take over the power in another nation, it is obliged to inform the nation in question. But how did Vegeling van Claerbergen know about the fact that the Group of Sixteen wanted to take over the power in Suriname? 

Major Koenders says that Bouterse could stage the military coup because he and his men were supported by the Dutch Colonel Hans Valk. He was sent to Suriname after it became an independent republic to lead the Dutch Military Mission. Major Koenders researched the role of Colonel Valk in the staging of the military coup, but unfortunately his report disappeared never to be found. However, Koenders claims that without the help of Valk the coup could not have taken place because of the fact that the Group of Sixteen did not have the capacities to stage a military coup. The report never reached the Dutch government because of the fact that the Dutch coordinator of Surinamese affaires, claimed that it was based on nothing but gossip and not on facts. But Koenders says it was just too sensitive because the report claimed that the Netherlands was involved in the staging of the coup and this is unacceptable for a democratic country as the Netherlands (Kagenaar, D., “Different Times”, 2009).  

However, in 1983 a new research was done to investigate the involvement of Colonel Valk in the staging of the coup. It became clear that he had very intensive contact with Bouterse. He said to Bouterse and his men that they were being treated as slaves by the current government and should not accept this any longer. When Vegelin van Claerbergen heard about the contact between Valk en Bouterse he immediately forbid Valk to be in contact with him. But of course this is a very hard thing to check.
Even when the coup was staged, Valk still advised Bouterse about what he should do next. He suggested that Bouterse should form a Civil Government. Because of the fact that Vegelin already had enough of Valk before the coup was staged, he asked the Dutch Government to send him back to the Netherlands, but his opinion changed after 25 February. Valk was the only one Bouterse would listen to and therefore Vegelin wanted Valk to stay (Kagenaar, D., “Different Times”, 2009). However, Vegelin was too late.  In May 1980 Valk had to go back to the headquarters of the NATO in Brussels. At his farewell reception, Bouterse exposed something which confirmed the support he got from Valk. Bouterse said: “Colonel, now I am going to reveal something that only you and I know. Without your help the coup would have never taken place’ (Kagenaar, D., “Different Times”, 2009). André Haakmat says that sending Valk back to Brussels was the biggest mistake the Dutch ever made in this issue. Without Valk in Suriname the Dutch influence there was close to nothing. Now there was no one there to control the soldiers. He claims that getting rid of Valk is a direct cause of the December murders (Kagenaar, D., “Different Times”, 2009). 

5.2 Reaction to the coup

Although the military coup came as a surprise to many foreign countries, the Dutch Government gave the new found leaders the benefit of the doubt (Boerboom, H. & Oranje, J., 1992, p. 18). The Dutch government deeply regretted the fact that people were killed on 25 February, but also had to admit that in other South-American countries many more people have been killed in simular cases. Furthermore Bouterse and his men said that a civil government would be established, that democracy would be re-instated and that human rights would not be violated.  
However, the Dutch government did fear that the coup would cause a long period of a decrease of the development of the country and commotion in Suriname. According to Boerenboom and Oranje the Dutch government was glad to get rid of the former corrupt government and was hoping that with the support of the Surinamese population the former corrupt regime would come to an end. The Ministery of Foreign Affairs in The Hague regularly received reports from the Dutch Military Mission in Paramaribo which claimed that Bouterse was not even that bad; they said that he was even trustworthy and if necessary easy to be influenced. The Ministery hoped that everything would turn out good in the end (p. 18, 19). However, according to Henk Waltmans, a proffesor in Social Sciences, a military regime is always a bad regime. If a democracy is not an honest one and does not function as it should, then that democracy should be improved but a military coup is never the answer (p. 188). According to him only the Dutch Labour Party was opposed to the coup. 
5.3 Reaction to the December murders

The Dutch reaction to the coup shifted after the December murders took place. The Dutch government was very dissapointed about the vague and inconsistent explanation for what had taken place. The issue was one of the main points of agenda during the NATO meeting that took place during the week of 8 December 1982. The way the Dutch government would handle this issue was considered to be very important because of its history with Suriname. First the government thought that it should send Dutch military groups to Suriname to restore the democracy, but this was not something the Dutch government would do. Political and economical sanctions were considered to be better fitting. The following sanctions were established:

· The development aid that was promised in November 1975 was suspended immediately. The development aid would be reinstated if the democracy was reinstated. 
· Education of soldiers in the Netherlands was stopped.
· The support of the Dutch Ministry of Defence with the purchase of military equipment was stopped. 

· The Netherlands would no longer look after Suriname’s diplomatic needs in foreign countries. 

(Boerenboom, H. & Oranje, J., 1992, p. 100)
5.4 Conclusion

In general it can be said that the first reaction of the Netherlands was rather positive. Because the Dutch government did not agree with the former corrupt regime, the government hoped that the new found leaders could change the political situation Suriname was now in. However, when it became clear that the leaders did not restore the democracy and Suriname did turn into a dictatorship the Dutch government realized that something needed to be done. The international community also expected this from them. The Dutch government did not consider a military invasion to be an option and therefore the government formulated a number of strong measures to shock the military leaders. Although these measures did not impress Bouterse they did have an impact on Suriname. Mainly because of the fact that the development aid was suspended the Surinamese economy was affected in a negative way. 
6. The effect of the military coup
Now that I have answered different sub-questions I will now answer my central question which is:

What effect has the military coup of 1980 in Suriname had on international relations between Suriname and other countries?
As is shown in the preliminary chapters the reaction to the staging of the military coup was very much divided. Opinions of the countries also changed as time progressed. 

The initial reactions of international governments and the Surinamese population to the military coup were rather positive.  Because of the fact that the former Surinamese government was corrupt, people were glad that there would be new leaders who would hopefully have a different regime. This was also what the Dutch government thought. They gave the new found leaders the benefit of the doubt and hoped that in the end the coup would turn out to be good for Suriname. The US agreed with the Dutch government and promised not to interfere in Surinamese politics if the democracy would be restored. Of course there were also negative reactions to the coup. For example Brazil was not too happy about the military regime that was taking place in Suriname. 
These opinions changed when it became clear that the new found leaders wanted to establish socialism in Suriname. Bouterse was a great fan of Fidel Castro and thought very highly of all the things he had achieved in Cuba, like free health care and education. Suriname got a lot of support from Cuba and Grenada, which considered Bouterse to be the leader of the Surinamese revolution. The relation between Suriname and Cuba became stronger and stronger which caused great dissatisfaction with the American Minister of Foreign Affairs. He warned the Surinamese government by saying that strengthening the relation with Cuba would have very negative consequences for Suriname. The US considered Cuba to be a betrayer and the Minister emphasized that it was very important for Suriname to remain a good relation with the Netherlands. Another country with a leftist regime in the South-American region was considered to be very bad for US security and therefore it is said that the CIA planned a military invasion. However, the actual invasion never took place. Some say it did not take place because the Dutch government did not want to cooperate.
Also Brazil was not too happy about the relation with Cuba and to prevent Suriname from asking help from Cuba, Brazil offered Suriname help with the purchase of military equipment. 
Although the Dutch government was rather positive at the beginning of the military coup, this al changed when during the night of 8 December 1982, 15 opponents of the Bouterse regime were killed under suspicious circumstances. The Dutch government was shocked about what was taking place in Suriname and serious meassures had to be taken because of this major violation of human rights. The whole international community was watching how the Netherlands would deal with this situation. One of the strictest sanctions for the old Dutch colony was the fact that the development aid would be suspended immediately. Although the measures taken by the Dutch government were very heavy, Bouterse was not much impressed by them. He claimed that Suriname did not need help from the Netherlands to survive. After the December murders Suriname was isolated from other countries because human rights were violated. Because of this the economy of Suriname suffered a lot during this period. Also when it became clear that because of political instability and a legal system that was not functioning properly it was the ideal country for the smuggling of drugs by Colombia and Brazil. 
The December murders were not the only event in which human rights were violated. People that were in prison often did not get to see an attorney or a judge. Also the freedom of expression was not guaranteed in Suriname at the time, even though this was a right that was stated in general Decree A-11. 
In general it can be said that it were mainly the December murders that changed the relation between Suriname and other foreign countries. As said before, when the military coup took place, the reaction from other foreign countries was rather positive. However, relations changed when the December murders took place. 
At the time Suriname did not have a strong relation with other foreign countries, except the Netherlands. Suriname was focussed a lot on the Netherlands and therefore a lot of countries still thought that Suriname was a Dutch colony. Suriname became isolated in its region. 
After the re-establishment of the democracy in 1991 the relation between Suriname and the US, became a positive and mutually beneficial one. The US has helped Suriname with the fight against drug trafficking and has donated a criminal records database as well as computers in 2000 (2009, “US-Surinamese relation”, para. 5). Furthermore the US Peace corps is very active in Suriname to improve rural development. 
The relation between Suriname and the Netherlands did change during the eighties but is nowadays still a strong one. According to André Haakmat it is still the relation concerning the development of the country that is most important (1996, p. 149). Although Suriname and the Netherlands still have a special relation,  Urwin Vyent points out that the relation has cooled down over recent years (“Debate on the cooled down relation between Surinam and the Netherlands,” 2008, para. 1).
The relation between Suriname and other countries in its region is still very minimal. The Surinamese have tried to strengthen these relations but without much success. A stronger relation with other countries in the region could really stimulate the Surinamese economy in a positive way. 
Before the coup many countries thought that Suriname still was a Dutch colony (Haakmat, A., 1996, p. 120). But because of the coup Suriname got a lot of acknowledgement from other revolutionary countries in the region. A very positive step in improving the relation between Suriname and countries in its regions was the fact that Suriname became a member of the Caribbean Community and the Common Market (CARICOM) . 
So, it can be concluded that the military coup did effect relations between Suriname and other foreign countries. The fact that Suriname became isolated in its regions is one of the major consequences of the coup. Also the fact that development aid from the Netherlands and the US was suspended during those years, is a direct effect from the military coup. Because of the instability the coup caused economically and politically Suriname became a country that was perfect for drugs trafficking and this also damaged the image Suriname had. Fortunately, relations improved when democracy was restored in 1991. 
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Appendix I – victims December murders
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Kenneth Carlos Goncalves 


d.o.b. 16/11/1940 
solicitor

Cornelis Harold Riedewald 


d.o.b. 12/01/1933 

solicitor

Edmund Alexander Hoost 


d.o.b. 21/10/1934
solicitor

John Khemraadj Baboeram 


d.o.b. 08/09/1951 
solicitor

Cyril Richard Duncan Daal 


d.o.b. 29/05/1936 
union leader
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Lesley Paul Rahman

d.o.b 24/09/1954

journalist

Frank Wijngaarde 

d.o.b. 14/08/1939

journalist

Abraham Maurits Behr 


d.o.b. 18/01/1951
journalist

Jozef Hubert Maria Slagveer 


d.o.b. 25/01/1940
journalist

Rudi Andre Kamperveen 


d.o.b. 27/09/1924 
executive director Radio ABC

[image: image3.jpg]



Robby Somradj Sohansing 


d.o.b. 04/06/1945 
businessman
Sugrim Oemrawsing 


d.o.b. 25/08/ 1940 
university professor
Gerard Leckie 


d.o.b 06/05/1943 
university professor
Soerindre Rambocus 


d.o.b. 05/05/1953 
army officer

Djiewansing Sheombar 


d.o.b. 15/03/1957 
army officer
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